N oo b

9.

ROBERT HOLLAND FACULTY SENATE AGENDA
January 21, 2022

. Call to Order
. Adoption of Minutes, November 12, 2021 . ..o eeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeaaeseeeseseeeeaaaessaeeeneees (p. 2)
. Introduction of Guests

Dr. Mark Keenum, University President
Dr. David Shaw, Executive Vice President and Provost
Dr. Rick Travis, Dean, College of Arts & Sciences

. Report of the Faculty Senate President......ccccvieiiiciiiiiiiniieie e e s svee e s s (p. 20)

. Report of the Faculty Senate Vice President .......cccccvveeiiiiieieiiiiieeesesiree s sscreeeseseee s s s (p. 23)

. Reports from Faculty Senate Designates on University Committees
. Business to be sent to Committee:

7.1. AOP 12.12 Credit & Grades (Academic Affairs)......cccceerercieeeiiiiieee e (p. 31)
7.2. 13.06 Sabbatical Leave for Faculty Members of State Institutions of Higher Learning
(FACUILY ATFQIIS) uveeeeeeiiee ettt ettt e e e e s e e st re e e e ssnraeeeesabeeeesesnaeeeanns (p. 34)

. Standing Committee Reports:

8.1. Academic Affairs
8.2. Ancillary Affairs
8.2.1. AOP 12.39 Policy on Undergraduate University Scholarship ......c.ccccceeeeinneenn. (p. 25)
8.3. Charter & Bylaws
8.4. Faculty Affairs
8.5. Student Affairs
8.6. University Resources
Special Committee Reports

10. Pending Business
11. New Business
12. Adjourn



ROBERT HOLLAND FACULTY SENATE

Uncorrected Minutes of November 12, 2021
The Robert Holland Faculty Senate of Mississippi State University held its regular monthly
meeting in the Bost Theater at 2:00 p.m. on Friday, November 12, 2021.

Members absent and excused were Mike Breazeale, Thu Dinh, Gnaneswar Gude, Alicia Hall,
Stacy Haynes, Santanu Kundu, Todd Misna, Andrea Varela-Stokes, and Kelley Wamsley.

Members absent were Erdogan Memili, Sorina Popescu, and Ted Wallace.

The meeting was called to order by Senate President Rebecca Robichaux-Davis. President
Robichaux-Davis, in honor of Veteran’s Day, thanked all of the veterans of the Mississippi State
University community for what they have done and what they do. She also thanked Dr. Gary
Jackson for sharing the space the Senate is meeting in today.

President Robichaux-Davis asked for any corrections to the minutes of the October 15, 2021,
meeting. Hearing no corrections, President Robichaux-Davis accepted the minutes as
amended.

GUESTS

Dr. Mark Keenum, University President
Dr. Keenum said it has been a busy week. He said it is always a busy week, not just for himself
but for everyone on this campus. Dr. Keenum said he had the opportunity to welcome many
potential new students to MSU for our Scholars Recognition Day on Monday morning. High
achieving students from around the state and around the country were invited to come to MSU
with their families to learn more about our Shackouls Honors College and the wonderful
disciplines and programs we have to offer. Dr. Keenum said many of these students will
hopefully enroll and be a part of our university family next year.

Dr. Keenum said on Tuesday he had the opportunity to meet with our Thrive and TRiO students.
He said the TRiO program is one that he is quite proud of. It is tailored to our first-generation
students and it helps them with some of the critical challenges they have to overcome even
now as students. He said the University also recognizes what they have had to overcome just
to be here. Dr. Keenum said the Thrive program was just started in the past couple of years and

2



is focused on students coming from foster homes. He said these students have really had to
overcome a lot in their life just to become a student at MSU. Dr. Keenum said he is so proud of
what we do to help these students succeed. Dr. Keenum thanked the senators for all that they
do to help these students, especially the students with special needs.

Dr. Keenum said Thursday we held the veterans recognition ceremony for Veterans Day. The
weather did not cooperate, so the event had to be relocated from the Drill Field to the Foster
Ballroom, but the event was still a success. He said this event allows the University to recognize
the men and women who have served our nation. We honor the students, faculty, and staff
who have served our nation and answered the call to serve and defend our freedoms. Dr.
Keenum said it is important to take a moment and thank these individuals and to recognize
what the University is doing to support our student veterans and our veterans community. He
said the Sonny Montgomery Center in Nusz Hall does a wonderful job of supporting our
students as well as our dependents and survivors. There are many benefits that are extended
to our veterans and the veterans in our community.

Dr. Keenum said this morning we held the first Fall Transfer Student Recognition Day. We
hosted several hundred community college students in our state and their families. They will
be spending the day enjoying our campus and learning about all we have to offer.

Dr. Keenum said he hopes the senators saw the official enrollment numbers which were posted
last week. He said the official reporting date is November 1. The reporting date used to be
after the 10™ day of class but was changed by IHL several years ago due to students who
decided to leave early in the semester. Dr. Keenum said the enrollment reporting of these
students would stay with us for 6 years and had an impact on our retention and graduation
rates. The official reporting number this year for MSU is 23,086 students. This is 100 students
more than last year and the first time enrollment has ever been above 23,000. Our enroliment
growth over the past 2 years is 860 students. Dr. Keenum said that is remarkable in spite of the
myriad of challenges society is facing. This is a reflection of this university and what we are
doing. This is the 7™ consecutive year of enrollment growth at MSU. There is no other school
in the state that can say that. Dr. Keenum said he believes that the families recognize the value
and the quality of the education that the faculty provide. They also recognize that our campus
is a safe and nurturing environment for a young person. He said the faculty make it possible in
the classroom and with advising and mentoring to help guide them.

Dr. Keenum said in March of 2020 our whole world got turned upside down. He said we are
still trying to get it turned back the right way but he likes what he is seeing. The start of the fall
semester could not have started at a worse time. He said he was telling new students and
parents at our orientations in the summer that we intended to make the school year as normal
as we could. No one could have envisioned then how our world would be turned upside down
again with the Delta variant. Dr. Keenum said he worked with our State Health Officers, IHL,
the leadership team, the Covid Task Force, and the Senate President to figure out how we could
start a semester in the midst of a surging variant. He said he is seeing hot spots pop up around

3



the country but he is encouraged that the numbers are going down in our state and in our
county. Our transmission rate is now moderate and CDC guidelines allow us more flexibility
when we are indoors where face coverings are concerned for those who are vaccinated.

Dr. Keenum said we are also facing challenges on our campus as everyone is aware. The IHL
board voted to comply with President Biden’s executive order which requires federal
contractors to have all employees fully vaccinated. Mississippi State University is a major
federal contractor and we hold many federal contracts that we rely on to do the work that we
do as a major research university. If you name a federal agency, we have a contract with that
agency. We are ranked 5 in the nation in high performance computing. Our supercomputers
are federal supercomputers. One of the fastest computers in the nation is the NOAA
supercomputer. We do a tremendous amount of global weather modelling for NOAA. Dr.
Keenum said he could go on and on. He said we also have hundreds of employees on campus
whose positions are directly funded through federal contracts. Dr. Keenum said he cannot
fathom us getting out of the research business as a top 100 research university. He said he also
cannot fathom losing hundreds of employees because of our unwillingness to comply with the
order of our President. Dr. Keenum said he has been told by numerous attorneys that we have
no alternative but to comply with a federal order. It supersedes any order given by our state.
He said our IHL Board recognized this and passed their directive. Dr. Keenum said he knows
many senators agree with this and many senators do not, but this is our directive. We will
move forward and implement it to the best of our ability. He said there may be an injunction
for the courts to decide. There is already a stay on vaccinations for businesses who employ
more than 100 people. Dr. Keenum said he does not know if there will be an injunction or not
but he intends to move forward with this. He said we are going to make sure that our
employees know what their rights are under this order. This means employees must have their
final dose administered by January 4t or they must file for a medical or religious exemption.
The deadline for an exemption is December 20™. He said he urges any employee who does not
wish to get vaccinated to get their waiver request submitted by December 20", This is not the
original deadline. We received guidance from the White House to move the date from
December 8™ to allow more time for people to get vaccinated. The date may be moved again
but he does not know that this will happen. An employee who has not been vaccinated by
January 4" will be allowed to continue working and will not be placed on administrative leave
unless the employee does not become compliant by January 15". An employee not vaccinated
and without an exemption on January 15™ will be placed on administrative leave until January
31, After January 31°% if the employee is still not vaccinated or filed for exemption they will
unfortunately be terminated. Dr. Keenum said he does not want to see any Mississippi State
employee lose their job over the vaccination requirement. He said we would do all we can to
inform our employees of their options and work with them as best we can. Dr. Keenum said he
knows this is tough for a lot of people and he understands and respects that. He said what we
are dealing with is tough for all of us. All of us working together and having patience and
understanding with one another as a university community and a university family will allow us



to get through this. He said he believes there are better days coming for the University and for
the nation. He said we just have to stay together, work together, and care for one another.

Dr. Keenum said the last time he met with the Senate he said how well our state revenues were
doing. He said they still are. Dr. Keenum said it is remarkable what he has been, and is
witnessing. Revenues for the month of October were $56 million over the estimate. So far this
fiscal year we are over $314 million over estimates. We began the fiscal year with a surplus of
over $1 billion. Dr. Keenum said he has been informed that around $600 million of this surplus
is so far unobligated. When the state legislature convenes on January 4™ they will be dealing
with a lot of federal dollars as well from the American Rescue Plan Act and the recently passed
Infrastructure Bill. These two bills amount to billions of dollars to the state with just under $2
billion coming from the Infrastructure Bill. Dr. Keenum said he will be back in Jackson with his
IHL colleagues and Commissioner Rankins to make sure they are aware of all the needs of the
IHL system. Dr. Keenum said his top priority remains to be an investment in our people. Dr.
Keenum said as long as he is at MSU, investing in our people will be his top priority. We already
know that teachers in the k-12 system will be receiving a pay raise this year. He said our
teachers need and deserve a pay raise. He said he doesn’t care what they give them, it will not
be enough. The people in higher education deserve an investment in them as well. Dr.
Keenum said the legislature will also be looking at our infrastructure capital needs. A lot of the
funds coming in are designated for infrastructure. Dr. Keenum said MSU has infrastructure
needs as well. The IHL system has a list of infrastructure needs that will be shared with
legislators. Dr. Keenum said he is not sure how the bond bill will be handled since we have
surplus funds. He said he believes there will be a bond bill but it will be a smaller bond bill
supplemented by the surplus funds. We are asking for $9.5 million toward the renovation of
Dorman Hall which will be added to the $8 million we got last session. We will be requesting
$15 million toward the new Architecture, Art, and Design building to complete the $30 million
cost.

Dr. Keenum said another issue that will be addressed by the legislature is redistricting for
congressional seats as well as the house and senate seats. They will also be looking at medical
marijuana. Medical marijuana was approved by voters in a referendum, but the referendum
was deemed improper by the courts. Dr. Keenum said he does not believe there will be a
special session to address this. The referendum process also needs to be corrected. The
elimination of the state income tax will also be discussed this session. He said all of these
things will take time in addition to determining how to allocate the funds.

Dr. Keenum said he was appointed by the IHL Board of Trustees along with Trustee Cunningham
to be IHL representatives several years ago on the Postsecondary State Financial Aid Board. He
said since he has been on the board and before he was on the board there is always more need
than funds. The board has to ask the legislature for deficit appropriation at the beginning of
each session. This amount ranges between S$2 million and $6 million. The legislature asked the
board to develop a model which stayed within a set budget. The Chairman of the board



appointed financial aid directors from around the state to develop a recommendation to
administer state aid while maintaining need based and merit based aid. This group presented
their recommendation to the board and the board approved it and recommended it to the
legislature. Dr. Keenum said he views this as a good first step to opening the eyes of our
legislative leaders. He said the legislative leaders want to keep need based aid and so does he.
He said we also need to have a merit based system for state aid. Many of the states we
compete with for students have merit based aid systems. He said he is fine with the system we
had, but the legislature did not want to continue to keep increasing funding every year. He said
given the constraints established by the legislature a plan had to be developed that best meets
the needs of our students and their families.

Dr. Keenum said the senators would be seeing a presentation on the campus master plan. MSU
is always thinking and planning out where are we headed and what our needs are. This applies
not just to our campus, but to our community at large. Dr. Keenum said he is excited about
where we are going. He said he realizes we have some pedestrian issues and we’ve tried to
address this by closing down some streets and some access points in order to make this a more
pedestrian friendly campus. The hope is to make this a more pedestrian campus, but we have
to open some of the new roadways to do this. There will soon be a ribbon cutting for Blackjack
Road. Famous Maroon Band Street which connects Stone Boulevard and Hardy Street is
already making an impact. Bulldog Way will connect Blackjack Road and Lee Boulevard and will
include a connector street to behind the Student Health Center. Until these projects are
completed we are just going to have to be careful and please pardon our progress. There are
speed bumps that have been deployed around campus. He said Jeremiah Dumas and Saunders
Ramsey and their teams are working to help come up with a way we can make the campus
slower. Dr. Keenum said our campus police will be doing more enforcing of speed on campus.
Our campus will continue to evolve and grow and expand. The presentation will show the plans
for accommodating this growth moving forward. Dr. Keenum said it can take 5 or 6 years for an
infrastructure project to go from infancy to completion. We always have to be thinking about
the future and that is what this presentation is about.

Dr. Keenum wished all of the senators a wonderful Thanksgiving and a blessed holiday season.

Dr. David Shaw, Provost and Executive Vice President

Mr. Greg Havens

Mr. Ben Zunkeler, Sasaki Associates, Inc
Dr. Shaw said he is excited to bring the presentation of the master plan to the senators today.
He said this is not just a presentation about where we are in the master planning process. This
is not a final plan. Dr. Shaw said he would love to get feedback on the presentation.

Dr. Shaw, Greg Havens and Ben Zunkeler gave the master plan presentation. This presentation
can be viewed on the recording of this meeting on the Faculty Senate website.



Senator Pelaez asked how the differing needs for office space between faculty in different
disciplines would be addressed with the standard office spaces presented. Mr. Havens replied
the presented spaces were not intended to be the way actual office spaces would be built. He
said it is a kit of parts for future design processes. Any change to any building would involve the
occupants of the building. A programming exercise would be performed to identify the specific
needs.

Senator Tagert asked if there was any discussion of the foot traffic on North Farm and South
Farm. She said a lot of people like to go there to walk, run, or take their pet. She said this can,
at times, interfere with research being performed. She asked if any of the proposed design
would alleviate some of this. Mr. Havens replied that the wellness link is designed to provide a
space that people can exercise in a more central area of campus. He said the plan includes a
new wellness center adjacent to the new Kinesiology building which would be the southern
counterpart of the Sanderson Center. The new facility could be slightly different by offering
more programs including nutrition programs and counseling. Jeremiah Dumas, Executive
director of Transportation, asked if Senator Tagert was referring to pedestrian issues internally
on North and South Farms. Senator Tagert replied she is. She said the issue has to do with
timing. Itis only an issue during working hours while research is being performed.

Senator Wood said she has commuted by bike for over five years to campus. She said she is
very excited to see the pedestrian core and the acknowledgement of bike traffic. She asked
what thoughts were in place to highlight mixed-use, pedestrian, and bike only paths. She said
we currently have bike only paths and they are not used as bike only. Mr. Havens said he
completely understands how this needs to be thought through in detail. He said over time as
the plan develops and things are implemented there will be more and more detail. He said
the design is intended to coordinate bike movements with all of the other movements that will
be taking place. He said the Hardy Street project will inform future projects of how to best
handle this. Mr. Zunkeler added that things such as trees are being used to help delineate the
pedestrian paths from the bike paths. Mr. Dumas said MDOT has funded a study for MSU, the
City of Starkville, and Oktibbeha County which identified that most of the users who create
safety issues do not know the differences between the pathways. He said a regional master
plan has been created which identifies different levels of bike infrastructures from a bike path
and a multi-use way and identifies them by picture and glossary of definitions. He said the bike
racks identified in the presentation will also help with this by not encouraging people to ride
their bike right up to the front doors of buildings. This will include signage indicating where to
ride your bike. He said this is also being done for scooters.

Senator Miller asked if the large classrooms proposed would be flexible or if they would be
fixed seat auditoriums. Mr. Zunkeler replied that the 100+ seat rooms are intended to take
advantage of new technologies which help make them flexible. He said once the room size gets
to 300+ seats it becomes a different room type. Senator Miller asked if there has been
consideration that 10 or 20 years from now classroom spaces may look a little different in the



form of hybrid education. She said in this case we would not need 300 seat classrooms. Mr.
Havens replied we need to be planning in our design for this as a future possibility. He said it
could become the case that there are only 20 student s in a classroom but 50 more are
attending virtually. Mr. Zunkeler said locating the large classrooms away from the core to allow
for them to be used for outside events as well will also free up the core space for more flexible
layouts.

Senator Miller said the design factors in a lot of outdoor space. She asked how much
consideration was given to the climate in Starkville where many months of the year we are
rainy or it is unbearably hot. Mr. Havens said this was a big factor in the design. He said shade
is a big factor in what is being proposed either through trees, umbrellas, or structures. He said
rain is harder to deal with, but outdoor spaces can be positioned on the south side of buildings
to help protect from wind and capture sun.

Senator Miller said she thought the Kinesiology building would be located by the Sanderson
Center. She asked if the location of the building had been changed. Dr. Shaw replied after a lot
of analysis and a lot of conversations with Kinesiology and the college, it was decided to change
the location to save a lot of money. This savings will be put back into the building and it will be
a bigger facility as a result. Dr. Shaw said the new location also fits with the plan being
proposed today.

Senator Miller asked for elaboration on panhellenic plots. Mr. Havens said the panhellenic
organizations have a tradition of having plots which are outdoor gathering spaces where the
organizations can place their insignias. It is a tradition seen on many campuses across the
south. Mr. Saunders Ramsey, Executive Director of Campus Services, said not all panhellenic
organizations have a house and this is a place where they can gather and tell their story. He
said being located next to the Multi-Cultural Center also has some strategic meaning behind it.
He said this will be something that will happen in the near future and planning for the project
will begin in the next week.

Senator Gregory said she believes there is also a culture that needs to be overcome with regard
to pedestrian issues on campus. Many of our students come from rural areas where they only
drive to get around. She said she takes students on field trips to large cities and they complain
about walking the whole time. Senator Gregory said she believes we need to educate our
students about the benefits of this and teach them respect of bikers. She said she has been
threatened by drivers while using crosswalk telling her she is stupid and she shouldn’t be
walking. She said she has also been in touch with Facilities Management because students
litter and do not clean up after their pets at Chadwick Lake. She said the is no culture of pride
in their environment. She said she would like this to be included in the master plan.

Senator Pelaez asked how the plan is connected with sustainability. Mr. Havens replied there
are several initiatives which are being examined. Building orientation should reduce load on
HVAC systems. Consideration is being given to how storm water management is handled on



campus. He said consideration is also being given to the way shade can be utilized to reduce
heat gain from paved surfaces. Mr. Havens said the President’s Climate Commitment was
adopted into the 2011 plan and it remains as part of the new plan. Efficiency will remain a key
priority for new buildings and renovations. Mr. Ramsey said some other not so visible
sustainability improvements have been made as well including the redesign and upgrade of the
chilled water loop that cools our buildings. The chiller plant will also be expanded in the near
future. He said we are constantly embracing solar energy and water quality. Native grasses
have been established on our water bodies to return them to be more naturalized. Spraying on
campus has been reduced and lowered our maintenance. Mr. Saunders said he believes it is
important to acknowledge the multiple layers that exist outside the building framework.

Senator Williams asked how much thought was put into parking on campus in terms of the
zones. He said we have a lot of gated lots that are not at capacity. He asked if the zoning of the
lots would be reconsidered. Mr. Havens said part of the plan is to consider the quantity of
parking. Mr. Ramsey said an assessment of parking needs has been ongoing and the
recommendation should be coming soon.

Senator Tagert said she works in the Ag & Bio Engineering Building and although it is a fairly
new building the department is already out of space and having to convert spaces and share
labs. She asked if the plan includes room for expansion of her building. Mr. Havens replied that
expansion of Senator Tagert’s building is planned to the north. He said this was included in the
2011 plan as well. He said the current plan is to make the building more a part of the
foreground with the new Kinesiology building being located adjacent to it creating what is
proposed as the McCarthy Quadrangle.

Senator Pelaez asked what the plans are for Allen Hall. Mr. Ramsey said he is always trying to
find funding to replace Allen Hall, but for now we are planning around Allen Hall and will be
looking on how to better it.

Senator Zuckerman asked about the plan for museums and galleries. She asked if there was a
plan to highlight multiple museums and galleries or have a central location for them. Mr.
Havens said they are currently thinking about how much space might be needed to consolidate
museums and galleries on campus. He said more work needs to be done on this before a plan
can be presented. Mr. Ramsey said this is way at the top of the list and the University sees the
value in having the museums and galleries centralized. He said the analysis needs to be
completed before any decisions can be made.

REPORT OF THE FACULTY SENATE PRESIDENT
During the last month, many of the university standing committees on which | serve did not
meet. However, other university standing committees on which | serve met more than once. |
have also attended meetings of the Faculty Development Task Force and have continued to
attend weekly COVID-19 meetings. Throughout the past month, | have remained in contact
with MSU administrators concerning various issues brought forward to me.




As you know, the month of October was designated as Faculty Athletics Month. Thanks to each
of you who participated in the various events held to show the Athletics Department’s
appreciation for what we do. These events were quite successful with about sixty members of
the faculty or staff and their families attending the National Championship Trophy photo op,
thirty-eight members of the faculty and staff along with their families, an additional eighty-six
guests, attending the open Football Practice at the Leo Seal Practice Facility, and great WINS by
our soccer, volleyball, and football teams at the three games which were part of Faculty
Athletics Month.

With regards to the implementation of the Student Course Survey that we approved during our
October meeting, | have collaborated with Dr. Shaw and Dr. Tracy Baham in OIRE and the
survey that will be implemented will have the 11 items that we approved. Unfortunately,
because of a lack of time and an approved process, faculty will not be able to add their own
three items to the survey this semester, but in preparation for next semester, if you know you
would want to add items to the surveys for the courses you teach, please prepare those items
between now and early February so that when the process for adding items is established and
the request for those items is made, you will be ready. It was just too late in the semester to
individualize the survey in this way for this semester. You will notice that the scale will go from
strongly disagree on the left to strongly agree on the right. In terms of the coloration of the
scale, Class Climate meets ADA accessibility requirements. The particular red and green shades
that we will be using are more widely visible even among those with visual issues. These
particular shades do not catch everyone with color blindness, but in addition to the colors, we
have the words listed above each option, as well as the gradient and size tool to connote the
positivity. These scales meet accessibility standards for screen readers and other accessible
devices. Because we are using more than color alone to communicate the values of the scale
and response options, even those with this particular color blindness could read the scale
without the need for screen reading devices. The option for “abstain” has been changed to
“ABSTAIN/N.A.” Also, the drop-down menu for the question that asks about the number of
hours spent outside of class engaged in class activities will contain numbers 0 to 20. | have also
discussed with Dr. Shaw the concern about the survey items not addressing some of the
experiences of Campus 5-only students and in the near future, we will be looking at the
previous items that were used strictly for Campus 5 students and adding either those items to
the survey or a version of those items. However, for this semester, the survey that will be
implemented will be exactly what the RH Faculty Senate approved.

As a reminder, we are still accepting nominations for the SEC Faculty Achievement Awards. The
deadline for nominations is Nov 19, 2021. You should have received a reminder email this past
Monday asking for nominations. Please consider nominating colleagues who are Full Professors
and have taught predominantly undergraduates. Details of the nomination requirements are
posted on the Faculty Senate website.

10



Reports from Committees on which | Serve:

Athletic Council — This committee met on October 13, 2021. Dr. Fountain shared that the NCAA
is looking at a new constitution. Christine Jackson shared that they are in the midst of
interviewing three candidates for a position within Athletic Academics. Twenty-seven student
athletes have applied for December graduation. The M-Club has lots of service activities going
on during October and November. A Pink Dawg Walk for cancer was held on October 26,
Bracky Brett of the Compliance Office shared that earlier that day Dr. Keenum spoke to all of
the athletic coaches during their regular monthly compliance meeting. Dr. Keenum gave them
an update on everything going on around MSU. John Cohen shared that Baseball Alumni
Weekend will be October 29— 30™ in conjunction with the National Championship Team being
recognized at the Homecoming Football Game. The first Women'’s Basketball Game will be on
Tuesday, November 9% and the first Men’s Basketball Game will be on Wednesday, November
10t

COVID-19 Future Planning Task Force — The COVID-19 Task Force has met three times since my
last report. Information from each of these meetings is provided primarily through weekly
Cowbell Well updates that are provided on Fridays. Our current mask requirement is masks
must be worn in classrooms, lab, studios or other instructional space, and individual employees
can require masks in their office spaces if they choose. Employees are now required to be
vaccinated or have a medical, religious or other exemption on file. Vaccine requirement
information is to be uploaded at https://covidvaccine.msstate.edu/employee-upload/index.php
The COVID-19 Vaccine and Flu Shots continue to be available at the Health Center and at
various pop-up clinics in the Student Union’s Dawg House. We are trying to make it as easy as
possible for anyone to get vaccinated and get the flu shot. See www.msstate.edu/covid19 for
more information.

Design Review Committee — This committee did not meet since my last report, but we
considered and approved of one item via email discussion and review of documents. We
reviewed plans and construction details for the construction of a paved parking lot (currently
gravel) to the east of Leo Seal Football complex and to the north of Dudy Noble. After some
discussion concerning the need to include 7 ADA parking spaces to be in compliance with the
required percentage of ADA spaces, the committee unanimously voted to approve of this
project.

Inclusive Excellence Leadership Council — This council has not met since my last report.
Executive Council — This council has not met since my last report.

Executive Enrollment Management Committee — The committee did not meet since my last
report.

Fall Convocation Group — This committee has not met since my last report.

11


https://covidvaccine.msstate.edu/employee-upload/index.php
http://www.msstate.edu/covid19

Game Day and Special Events — This committee met on October 13t and October 27" to discuss
and approve various Game Day requests. New stop signs have been installed in two locations
on Famous Maroon Band St. Famous Maroon Band St. will still be blocked to traffic, though, on
football game days. A Press Release was sent out via email, social media, and news outlets
notifying everyone that on-campus policies for golf carts and low speed vehicles have not
changed, although new policies were adopted by the city of Starkville. Violations of the stated
laws and policies will result in ticketing, booting, towing, and revocation of parking and access
privileges. Concerning football tailgates, people are leaving entire tailgates set up past the
midnight deadline for removal. Any tailgates and/or content of tailgates still on campus at 7:00
the next morning gets thrown away when campus is cleaned for the start of the new week.

Information Technology Council —This committee met on November 2, 2021. You should be
aware that a Phishing Campaign began on Monday, November 1, 2021. As of November 29, 4%
of those employees who had received the phishing email fell for it completely and gave out
their password. Please be aware of this. If you haven’t completed the Information Security
Training, please do so at this time. This is an annual training that all employees must complete.
Only 40% of MSU employees had completed it when we met. The majority of the meeting was
focused on ITS” IT Transformation Work Intake and Prioritization Pilot program. This program is
a work in progress. It is a multi-phased project with one of the phases being a “discovery
process” where ITS researches the project prior to doing anything. The project aims to expand
the coordination and collaboration between ITS and the university and to establish clear
delivery responsibilities and expectations across all stakeholders. ITS should be involved with
technology issues as soon as they arise. This pilot project was prompted because of the sheer
number of projects being requested. One of the biggest changes that will result from this is that
the Vice-Presidents will now prioritize all ITS projects. Each month the VPs will review where all
existing projects are in terms of completion and prioritize all new requests.

Master Plan Development and Advisory Committee — This committee has not met since my last
report.

Parking and Traffic Regulations Committee — This committee met on October 28, 2021, to
discuss two main items. First, we discussed and approved a “Gated Parking Expansion” project
which would allow us to control traffic on Hardy Blvd and make it primarily pedestrian. With the
expanded gated parking, the gates for all gated parking lots would be relocated further “out”
and therefore there would be fewer such gates. All gated permits would work in any gate so
once “inside” the gated area of campus, one would have the choice as to which lot to park in.

Sustainability Committee — This committee has not met since my last report.

Senator Gregory said she has been overwhelmed and has not had the opportunity to do the
security training. She asked that future trainings not occur during the busiest time at the end of
the semester.

12



REPORT OF THE FACULTY SENATE VICE PRESIDENT
Academic Deans Council

The Academic Deans Council meeting was cancelled due to lack of agenda items and travel
schedules of key personnel.

Committee on Campus Access

No meetings were held since the last Vice President’s report, and no meetings are scheduled to
date.

Community Engagement Committee

No meetings were held since the last Vice President’s report, and no meetings are scheduled to
date.

Master Plan Development and Advisory Committee

The Master Plan Development and Advisory Committee did not meet when scheduled due to
no new business.

Undergraduate Research and Creative Discovery Committee

No meetings were held since the last Vice President’s report, and no meetings are scheduled to
date.

Sustainability Committee

No meetings were held since the last Vice President’s report, and no meetings are scheduled to
date.

Updated on November 8, 2021
Respectfully submitted, Missy Hopper

FACULTY DESIGNATES ON UNIVERSITY COMMITTEES

BUSINESS TO BE SENT TO COMMITTEE
1. AOP 10.08 Classroom Regulations (University Resources)

2. AOP 12.39 Policy on Undergraduate University Scholarship (Ancillary Affairs)
3. Letter of Request: Faculty Senate Meeting Space (University Resources)

Senator Stokes said the University Resources Committee has already begun to gather
information on potential Senate meeting spaces.

13



The motion to send the items to the committees indicated passed by unanimous hand vote.

STANDING COMMITTEE REPORTS

Academic Affairs No Report
Ancillary Affairs No Report
Charter & Bylaws No Report

1. Modification of Bylaws: Electronic Meetings

Senator Spurlin, on behalf of the Charter & Bylaws Committee, presented the committee report
on electronic meetings.

Senator Carskadon said he was distressed earlier this year when he learned a senator resigned
because we did not accommodate their medical needs. He said he supports the committee’s
recommendation to be able to handle meetings in times of emergency. Senator Carskadon said
that he believes the entire Senate should vote on whether to routinely allow remote
participation. Senator Carskadon made a motion to amend the recommendation to allow for
routine remote participation by those senators who need to attend in this manner. He said if a
senator has a medical need or is away at a conference and could participate, we should allow
for this. He said if a senator just simply does not want to attend in person, they do not have a
need. President Robichaux-Davis asked for specific language for the motion. Senator
Carskadon said the language should be, “Remote participation in Senate meetings be allowed if
needed.” President Robichaux-Davis asked who would determine the need. Senator Carskadon
said he would trust the judgement of his fellow senators. Senator Gregory seconded the
motion.

Senator Pelaez said the Senate could follow University policy for excused absences. She said
this could apply to medical or academic needs. Senator Gregory said the language should say
personal needs such as childcare. Many of our faculty could have to stay home and take care of
a sick child but could still attend a meeting. She said instead of saying academic needs which
could include grading, it should say conferences. President Robichaux-Davis said she does not
know the legal aspects of it, but she does not believe that faculty can be paid for caring for their
child. She said Senate meetings are work. Senator Gregory said she thought Senate
membership was voluntary. President Robichaux-Davis replied it is voluntary, but senators are
elected by their peers. Senator Gregory said her concern is that faculty are not getting their
due representation because senators are unable to attend due to a wide variety of issues. She
said the faculty we represent should be consulted for a list of reasons senators could attend
remotely.

Senator Miller asked how voting by hand would work with some senators remote and how
feasible it is to have a handful of senators remote versus having all senators remote. President
Robichaux-Davis replied the committee recommendation states that in the event of remote
attendance a secure electronic voting system would be used. She said with the amendment

14



she believed there would be at least one senator attending remotely for each meeting which
would mean the secure electronic voting would be used for each meeting. Senator Miller asked
what the associated costs would be for operating in this manner. President Robichaux-Davis
replied it would cost over twice as much to have a remote component.

Senator Zuckerman said she believed the language should not be specific and should leave it up
to individual choice and necessity. She said this would create a more flexible policy which
should avoid potential legal issues and would emphasize that this is not a way to stay home to
get out of attending Faculty Senate. She said this is for when you would really like to attend but
there are extenuating circumstances that make in-person attendance not possible including
medical reasons.

Senator Carskadon said he would like the wording to say, “for medical, academic, or personal
reasons.” Senator Carskadon said he did not realize that Senate paid for our meetings. He
asked how much we currently pay and how much it would be with a remote component.
President Robichaux-Davis said we currently pay less than $500. She said with a remote
component it would cost roughly $1,000.

Senator Fincher said he believes there is some value to the senators being in the same room to
discuss the issues. He said he understands people having other concerns, but we have very
important work that is facilitated by senators being in the same room. He said if we are to have
exceptions to this, he would like for them to be in line with the standards we hold our students
to with regard to attending classes.

Senator Davis said the Senate is a deliberative assembly. He said we need to be in person.
Senator Davis said the only time he has not been in his office and teaching face to face was
when he legally couldn’t be. In fall of 2020 he took 40 students on 7 field trips in 14 vehicles.
He said he shows up and he meets face to face. He said he doesn’t mind change. Sometimes
he changes his lectures 10 minutes before he walks into class because he has a good idea.
Senate meetings are an example of something that does not need to be changed. Senator
Davis said Dr. Shaw is really busy, but he is here every meeting. He said if a senator needs to go
to a conference or do something else, you get an excused absence. The Coronavirus is an
extenuating circumstance. As soon as we leave it up to choice and allow for this, it gets really
gray and fuzzy. Senator Davis said when there is a pandemic or emergency and people have
extenuating circumstances, exceptions should be made. He said outside of these situations it
needs to be black and white and punctuated.

Senator Gregory asked if senators could vote by raising their hand on video if they are remote
as has been done in department and college online meetings. She said she believes the Senate
is putting these limitations on itself and we can make changes if we feel we should. She said we
have to realize things have changed during the pandemic. People have gotten used to meeting
and communicating online. Senator Gregory said she would argue that representation is just as
important as meeting in person so we need to be more flexible and think about how we move

15



into the future. She said we need to think about how we lead in the future as part of the
leadership of the University. She said she asks that senators are empathetic towards our
colleagues with concerns and we think about how we move forward and not just stick with
what we have done. Senator Gregory said we have seen that online can work. We are known
as one of the great universities for online learning and it seems counterintuitive to say that we
cannot have meetings online.

President Robichaux-Davis made a point of clarification that the recommendation from
committee states that a secure electronic means would be used for voting. She said it does not
specify what this would actually look like.

Senator Tschume asked what would make a quorum in a hybrid meeting. He said he would
hate for 10 senators to show up in person and the internet on campus fails. He asked if quorum
is established at the beginning of the meeting. President Robichaux-Davis replied quorum is
determined at the time of the vote and in the instance Senator Tschume is stating we would
not have quorum to conduct a vote. Senator Tschume said this could mean that the meeting
would be a waste if something like this happened to exclude the online participants. He said
the Senate needs to consider situations like this while deciding this issue.

Senator Davis asked if there is a situation which prompts the senate to go to a closed session,
would we be able to do so with remote attendees. President Robichaux-Davis replied it would
prevent us from going into closed session. Senator Davis said this means if a faculty has a P&T
or other sensitive issue, the Senate would not be able to address it.

Senator Fontenot said additional changes to the bylaws would be required to address closed
sessions with remote attendees. She said she would assume that those attending remotely
would be excluded from the closed session since there is no way to determine that the remote
attendees are indeed alone where they are located. She said the committee did not address
this since the recommendation strictly dealt with emergency situations, but if this was
expanded beyond times of emergency it would have to be addressed.

Senator Zuckerman said she believes the discussion should return to what initiated this study.
She said the underlying conditions of the senators have not gone away and no matter how
optimistic we are about the future, Covid 19 is not going away anytime soon. She said if
department heads and deans are able to allow for faculty to teach remotely to preserve their
health, we can certainly make the same accommodations for our senators for the same
reasons. Senator Zuckerman said she feels there is the impression that if someone is working
from home they are slacking in their pajamas. She said people are still doing remote work
when there are pressing health conditions. She said returning to the core issue of why this
request was made would be very helpful. She said this way we can get away from perceptions
that there are other motivations that don’t involve doing work that we are paid for.

Senator Carskadon said the report shows that other institutions allow for remote attendance at
their Senate meetings. He said it must work for them or they would not still be doing it. He

16



said if we tried this and it did not work we could revert to strictly in-person attendance.
Senator Fontenot said it was difficult to find information for other institution’s practices. She
said in some instances the committee was only able to find that the next meeting would have a
remote component but it could not be determined if this practice was adopted specifically for
the pandemic or if it was established for all regular meetings in the future.

Senator Williams said he believes we are trying to fix a situation where there was a special
circumstance. He said a hypothetical situation would be that a faculty member was elected to
the Senate and they then start going through chemotherapy. They feel like their health is
compromised and they do not want to attend face to face but they still feel like they were
elected and can serve their purpose just as they do through their online teaching. The
University is fine with them doing their teaching and research from home, so why shouldn’t
they be able to do their service from home. He said this would be a special case in which the
senator would like to continue their service and we have the ability to accommodate this. He
asked if in this very rare special occasion, much like the pandemic is a rare special occasion, the
Executive Committee could determine that there is a valid need and grant the ability to attend
remotely. He said, in his thinking, having a sick child and needing to miss a meeting to take care
of them is what excused absences are for. Senator Williams said he believes we should be able
to accommodate senators in these rare instances. He said it may be best to send this back into
committee to determine language that would solve these rare situations. Senator Williams said
he wants us to be kind to one another but not get lost in the weeds.

Senator Wood said that the Faculty Senate is representative of all faculty and those senators
who have special circumstances would bring a perspective which represents faculty in similar
situations. She said she echoes what Senator Williams said and thinks that special
circumstances do deserve consideration.

Senator Fincher said there is a difference between what we are teaching our students and what
we are doing here. An example of this is things that deal with Human Resources and privacy.
He said these things would not be discussed in a classroom setting. Senator Fincher said if we
explore expanding access, we should seek some legal counsel. He said maintaining security of
information is very important but could be very difficult in some instances.

Senator Follett said in view of the comments made, it may be best for the Senate to vote on the
recommendation of the committee which covers remote attendance in times of emergency and
send to committee the consideration of any special permissions that may be necessary to allow
for virtual participation for a demonstrated need.

Vice President Hopper thanked Senator Follett for his comment and said the proposed
amendment has been clarified to an extent, but we would need more clarification to be able to
adopt the amendment. She said sending the amendment to committee and adopting the
original motion would be beneficial to all.

17



Senator Carskadon withdrew his motion to amend with the understanding that it will go to
committee.

Senator Gregory said that the committee should also consider the legal implications of being
seen as being discriminatory to those with medical conditions.

The motion to accept the recommendation of the Charter & Bylaws committee passed by
unanimous hand vote.

Faculty Affairs

1. AOP 13.15 Evaluation of Teaching Performance

Senator Banik, on behalf of the Faculty Affairs Committee, presented the committee report on
AOP 13.15.

Senator Pelaez asked about the change to send comments to the department head and dean or
director. Senator Banik said the change was to bring the policy into compliance with IHL
regulations. Senator Williams said that the Senate has continually fought to keep the
comments with the faculty member, but IHL voted to provide the comments. He said it seemed
like it was done during the summer when we were not together. Senator Miller said the
comment section on the new course evaluations will be very different than the open-ended
comment sections on the previous survey. She said this only has to be sent to the named
individuals and does not have to be sent with P&T packages. Senator Gregory said in her
department student evaluations are required to be a part of P&T packets. She said they are
removed for external reviewers only. She said she was on the committee reviewing this policy
and she has concerns that some of the language is vague. She said if there is a contentious
relationship between a faculty member and their department head, this allows for a negative
evaluation. Senator Gregory said she thinks this should go back to committee to address some
of her concerns. Senator Carskadon said we are bound to release the comments, but he feels
we should set some guidelines for the appropriate use of the comments. The people receiving
these comments need to be aware of some of the perceptual traps they might fall into during
their review. He said this is a further step we could take. Senator Carskadon said he does not
believe it affects this policy and he intends to vote for its adoption, but it is something the
Senate could and should do. He said he also wanted to make the senators aware that this
revision does do away with a paper and pencil administration of the survey. This was
recommended by the university committee that reviewed surveys. Senator Carskadon said
after we start getting data from the new survey, we need to analyze the data to see if there is
any bias or if it is better or worse than it was before. He said we need to examine this after a
couple of years and make any necessary changes.

Senator Banik said he wanted to point out that this policy is not solely about course
evaluations. He said the course evaluations are just one of the “a through n” options that
faculty have for the evaluation of teaching.

18



Senator Miller said, with regard to Senator Gregory’s comment about course evaluations being
used in P&T packets, Senator Gregory should consult with whomever is writing the P&T
document to ensure that it is taken into consideration that teaching should be evaluated in
multiple ways for everyone on campus. She said there shouldn’t be as much emphasis on
student course evaluations as there has been in the past. She said she understands that
department heads will have an opportunity to be educated on other methods of teaching
evaluation.

Senator Pelaez asked if the comparative chart for student evaluations will still be included on
the tenure form. Senator Banik said a task force is reviewing this document and there will no
longer be a global mean or anything like that.

Vice President Hopper asked for an explanation of what is in the statistical report. Senator
Banik replied that the statistical report will contain a count of the different responses.

The motion of the Faculty Affairs Committee to accept the report on AOP 13.15 Evaluation of
Teaching Performance passed by majority hand vote.

Student Affairs No Report
University Resources No Report

SPECIAL COMMITTEE REPORTS
PENDING BUSINESS

NEW BUSINESS
Senator Follett made a motion to adjourn. Senator Miller seconded the motion.

The motion to adjourn passed by unanimous hand vote at 5:06 p.m.

Submitted for correction and approval.

Stephanie King, Secretary

Jason Cory, Administrative Assistant Il

INTRODUCTION OF GUESTS

Dr. Mark Keenum, University President
Dr. David Shaw, Executive Vice President and Provost
Dr. Rick Travis, Dean, College of Arts & Sciences

19



REPORT OF THE FACULTY SENATE PRESIDENT

Happy New Year, Senators! Welcome to 2022! | hope you had a restful and relaxing holiday
break and your Spring semester is off to a good start! For those of you who taught a Winter
Session course, thank you for providing that opportunity to our students. | hope you were still
able to find a little time for rest and relaxation. As we begin, | wish you a successful and healthy
semester as we continue to face challenges brought on by variants of COVID-19.

Since my last report, several of the university standing committees on which | serve did not
meet, but some did along with other standing monthly meetings that | have in my role as
President of the Faculty Senate; thus, it was still a busy month. On Dec 3™, 6" and 7t, |
attended the virtual SACSCOC Annual Conference as part of MSU’s team of Dr. Keenum, Dr.
Shaw, Dr. Tracey Baham and Vice-President for Finance and Administration, Mr. Don Zant. We
attended required sessions for those going through reaffirmation in 2024. | also attended
sessions specifically focused on faculty governance and the accreditation process.

Since our last meeting, | met with Dr. Jim Dunne (one of my regular monthly meetings) and we
discussed the formation of a committee to replace the “Committee on Committees”. This new
committee will review the work of each University Standing Committee and determine if any
changes to the committee’s charge, purpose, and composition need to be changed. The
President of the Faculty Senate will serve on this new committee. We expect for this committee
to begin its work at some point during this semester.

Also in December, | attended a meeting of the Committee on Inclusive Excellence Statements
during which time we reviewed the inclusive excellence statements of some units on campus as
well as many of our peer institutions and discussed what we thought should be included in such
statements for MSU. We are in the process of constructing such statements for our university,
building off of what some units on campus already have.

In response to a concern about the vagueness of the policy for excused absences for medical
reasons, | met with Dean Thomas Bourgeois to discuss this concern. He noted this policy is
purposefully vague and is aligned with that of our peer institutions. He did share that he and
personnel from our Title 9 office and General Counsel are currently reviewing and updating
various parts of the policy and asked if | would like to appoint a senator to represent us in those
discussions prior to any changes in the policy coming before the senate through the usual
review cycle. | have asked Senator Lindsey Miller to do this, and she has graciously agreed. Dr.
Bourgeois also volunteered to come speak to us about this. He reiterated that his office
provides support to faculty in determining whether or not absences due to medical reasons are
excused or not. He said all the faculty member has to do is contact his office, explain the
situation, provide any documents that they may have, and his personnel will take over after
that. He said not many faculty take advantage of this service, but encouraged us to do so. After

20



discussing this with the Executive Committee, | have invited Dean Bourgeois to speak to us at
our February meeting.

| have continued to attend weekly COVID-19 meetings during which time | voiced any concerns
that were sent to me during the week prior to the meeting. You should notice that the COVID-
19 website has been updated to reflect new guidance about quarantining with or without being
fully vaccinated along with other updated information.

| have also been recently appointed to the Experiential Learning Task Force and attended one
meeting of that group during which time we discussed how best to capture what is currently

being done on campus as it pertains to Experiential Learning. A survey will be going out to all

faculty at some point this semester and | urge you to complete that survey, as well as to urge
those who you represent to also complete the survey.

With regards to the new Student Course Survey that we approved during our October meeting,
which was implemented at the end of last semester, | have only received feedback from a few
faculty members after its implementation. This feedback included that they liked the items
much better than the previous ones, but that the response rates were still very low. Please
send me any other feedback that you may have received, along with any ideas you may have
for increasing the response rates.

Reports from Committees on which | Serve:

Athletic Council — This committee met on January 12, 2022. Ann Carr shared that a Leadership
Academy will be held for student athletes this semester. Fourteen student athletes will be
chosen to participate. The interview process for identifying the next cohort of BELI Interns for
this semester is underway. Christine Jackson shared that Athletic Academics is fully staffed
now, but they are still looking for more academic tutors. If you know of anyone interested in
tutoring student athletes have them contact Christine. For the ninth straight semester, our
Athletic Department had an overall departmental GPA over 3.0. The departmental GPA for Fall
2021 was 3.1. Next week, John Cohen, Bracky Brett and Brent Fountain will be attending the
NCAA Annual Convention at the NCAA Headquarters in Indianapolis, Indiana. They will be
voting on a new constitution for the NCAA. They will also participate in meetings of the D1
Transformation Committee which is being led by Co-Chair SEC Commissioner Greg Sankey. The
D1 Transformation Committee will work to make significant changes in the way Division 1
Athletics operates. Their main focus will be the student athlete experience.

COVID-19 Task Force — The COVID-19 Task Force continues to meet weekly. Information from
these meetings has been provided primarily through emailed updates as well as through the
updated COVID-19 website. To start the semester, our current mask requirement is masks must
be worn inside all buildings on campus. Individual employees do not have to wear masks in
their own office spaces. The COVID-19 Vaccine remains available at the Health Center. See
www.msstate.edu/covid19 for more information.

21


http://www.msstate.edu/covid19

Design Review Committee — This committee met on December 2. We approved of the
installation of concrete pads on campus for outdoor public sculptures that will be part of an
“Art Trail” from downtown Starkville to campus. We also approved the plans for the Humphrey
Coliseum Renovation and the Lakeview Drive Relocation project. Lakeview Drive will be
“pushed” closer to the Sanderson Center.

Inclusive Excellence Leadership Council — This council has not met since my last report.
Executive Council — This council has not met since my last report.

Executive Enrollment Management Committee — The committee met on November 29t during
which time our Ruffalo Noel Levitz representative shared with us the 13 strategic enrollment
planning strategies that we will be adopting as we move forward. Those strategies are:

(1) Comprehensive, University-Wide Marketing Plan
(2) University-Wide Undergraduate Recruitment Communications Plan
(3) Coordinated Graduate Student Recruitment Communications Plan
(4) Expanded & Increased Market Reach
(5) Comprehensive University-Wide International Recruitment
(6) Comprehensive and Holistic Review of Under-Graduate Financial Aid Awarding
(7) Graduate Assistant-Funding Strategy
(8) University-Wide Expansion of Non-Traditional Terms
(9) Graduate Stackable and Micro-Credential Development
(10) Enhance and Execute an Incoming Student Onboarding Experience
(11) Develop Broad Academic Support Strategies
(12) Further Develop Student Success Strategies for Campuses 2 & 5
(13) Streamline and Improve Processes for Graduate Admissions
Fall Convocation Group — This committee has not met since my last report.
Game Day and Special Events — This committee has not met since my last report.

Information Technology Council —This committee met on December 7, 2021. ITS has
implemented a new project scheduling and prioritization process as part of the overall IT
Transformation. Prioritization will be based on alignment to MSU’s project objectives which are
(1) enhance student experience, (2) grow/lead life-changing research, (3) improve operational
efficiency, (4) pursue healthy, sustainable growth, and (5) address security risks. The Vice-
Presidents will review project requests each month to determine priority,

22



Master Plan Development and Advisory Committee — This committee has not met since my last
report.

Parking and Traffic Regulations Committee — This committee has not met since my last report.

Sustainability Committee — This committee met on December 8. | was unable to attend this
meeting, but asked Senator Follett to attend in my place. Senator Follett attended the meeting
and subsequently provided me with notes from the meeting. Green Week is being planned for
the Spring 2022 Earth Week. Considerable updates have been made to the Sustainability
Website (www.sustainability.msstate.edu), but they welcome any comments or suggestions on
potential improvements. They are actively working to include more details of ongoing projects
on their website. WastePro was the winner of the recent RFP for a recycling vendor. They are
the current vendor so there won’t be any transition issues. The Climate Action Plan, created in
2012, is being reviewed in terms of either updating it or generating a completely new version.
Campus Landscaping is working to re-introduce native grasses and flowers to different areas
around campus. We have moved to slow-release fertilizers to get more sustainable benefits.
We currently have about 1,200 acres of turf being mowed on a roughly 10-Day cycle across
campus. In the next three to five years, we will get to a “complete” status on the conversion of
certain areas to the native plant materials. It will sometimes appear that some areas of campus
are “dead” or not kept up during this transition time. Signage is being installed in those areas to
inform people who notice it and have questions. The upcoming solar farm that will be
constructed near GTRA is part of the TVA Green Investment Program and is planned to produce
200 MW of power, of which Starkville (with MSU) will get about 30 MW. This will help in making
progress towards the goal of MSU being carbon neutral by 2042. The MSU Ice Plant on campus
is being upgraded. The ice plant is an energy storage facility used to help provide the chilled
water for those campus buildings on the steam and chilled-water air conditioning loop. The
storage area of the plant will double from 12,000 ton-hours to 24,000 ton-hours of capacity.
Currently, there are over 3.5 million square feet of building space on this system.

REPORT OF THE FACULTY SENATE VICE PRESIDENT

Academic Deans Council

The December Academic Deans Council meeting was cancelled. The January meeting is
scheduled for January 19t.

Committee on Campus Access

The Committee on Campus Access meeting was held on December 6 in virtual format. There
was one agenda item and that was to address funding of projects. The committee voted to
appropriate $20,000.00 to initiate a survey of campus architectural requirements including ADA
barriers that need to be addressed for the purpose of identifying greatest needs and creating a
priority list to plan for funding. The survey will take approximately 3 weeks and will focus on

23



percent of higher use buildings and then phase in other buildings. The committee voted not to
exceed $20,000.00 for this survey with a future vote to approve the actual amount when set.

The January meeting was cancelled.

Community Engagement Committee

No meetings were held since the last Vice President’s report, and no meetings are scheduled to
date.

Master Plan Development and Advisory Committee

The Master Plan Development and Advisory Committee (MPDAC) had three Consent Agenda
items this month which were (1) Humphrey Coliseum Renovations, (2) the associated
realignment of Lakeview Drive project to the east, and (3) two locations for future display of
public outdoor art pending further administrative discussion and approval. In the absence of
other new business or an objection, the MPDAC requested a yea or nay vote on the consent
agenda via email by December 9*. The consent agenda was approved.

The January meeting was cancelled.

Undergraduate Research and Creative Discovery Committee

No meetings were held since the last Vice President’s report, and no meetings are scheduled to
date.

Sustainability Committee

No meetings were held since the last Vice President’s report, and no meetings are scheduled to
date.

Updated on January 17, 2022
Respectfully submitted, Missy Hopper

REPORTS FROM FACULTY DESIGNATES ON UNIVERSITY COMMITTEES

BUSINESS TO BE SENT TO COMMITTEE

1. AOP 12.12 Credit & Grades (Academic Affairs) ...ccccvveeeeeieeieiiiiireeeeeeeeeeeecireeeee e e (p. 31)
1. AOP 13.06 Sabbatical Leave for Faculty Members of the State Institutions of Higher
Learning (FACUItY AffAirs) ..cccocccceieieeiee ettt e et e e e e e arrareee e e (p. 33)

24



STANDING COMMITTEE REPORTS

ACADEMIC AFFAIRS

ANCILLARY AFFAIRS
1. AOP 12.39 Policy on Undergraduate University Scholarship

Report to the Robert Holland Faculty Senate
Ancillary Affairs Committee
Report on AOP 12.39: Policy on Undergraduate University Scholarship Programs and
Procedures
January 10, 2022

Background

AOP 12:39 was previously titled Policy on University Scholarship Programs and Procedures.
‘Undergraduate’ was inserted between ‘on’ and ‘university’ to better align the policy with its
housing and mission. The policy needed to be updated in order to maintain its usefulness and
relevance.

Recommendation
The committee’s recommendation is to accept the updates/edits to the AOP by Ms. Lori Ball, Director of
Undergraduate Admissions and Scholarships.

Considering Ms. Ball’s edits and the AOP, we recommend moving the AOP forward with the edits.

Discussion
We reached out and spoke with Ms. Lori Ball today about AOP 12.39. Her comments and our discussion
points are listed below.

- Her edits were simply to update the AOP and get the language current.

- She changed language to move the policy under Academic Affairs compared to the previous
language which had it under Student Affairs.

- Previous Non-Resident Waivers are now known as Non-Resident Tuition Scholarships.

Committee Members: Jason Barrett (Chair), Rachel Allison, Charles Freeman, Derek Marshall,
Lauren Priddy, Jacob Tschume, Paul Tseng, Kevin Williams

25



rstarey | MISSISSIPPI STATE

UNIVERSITY.

AOP 12.39: POLICY ON UNDERGRADUATE UNIVERSITY SCHOLARSHIP
PROGRAMS AND PROCEDURES
PURPOSE

To provide guidelines and regulations governing scholarship programs, award processing, and renewal
criteria of undergraduate scholarship awards at Mississippi State University.

POLICY/PROCEDURE
Scholarships are administered by three groups: The Executive Enrollment Management Council
determines scholarship programs; The Scholarship Awards Committee administers scholarship
programs; and The Scholarship Appeals Committee administers the scholarship appeals process.

1. Scholarship Programs

e The Enrollment Executive Management Council meets annually to review the E&G budget and
enrollment and institutional goals in order to develop and approve scholarship programs and
committee award guidelines.

e Programs may include but are not limited to the following categories:

a. Competitive— Academic_scholarships for entering freshmen (Academic Excellence,
Presidential SchelarsProvest Schelars- Non-Resident Tuition, National Merit)

b. Scholarships for entering eemmunity—ecollege-transfers (Phi Theta Kappa, Community
College Recognition, Non-Resident Tuition)

c. Leadership and Service Scholarships (Eagle Scout, Gold Award, STAR Student, Student
Body President, Key Club, Anchor Club, National Service)

d. Athletic and Talent Scholarships (band, choir, spirit groups)

e. __Alumni Non-Resident Tuition Scholarships

o Students must be assessed non-resident tuition in order to receive a Non-Resident Tuition
Scholarship and/or an Alumni Non-Resident Tuition Scholarship. The combination of Non-
Resident, the Alumni Non-Resident Tuition Scholarships, and other non-resident
scholarships/waivers cannot exceed the non-resident fee portion of tuition. Also, the non-
resident tuition scholarships may not be combined with any other programs that waive the non-
resident charges, such as: Academic Common Market; Veteran, Service-Member, Dependent or
Spouse Non-Resident Tuition Waiver;

o Cormmittesetc.

e Committee award guidelines are based on numerous criteria which may include academic
merit, leadership and service, athletic and talent, and residency.

26



2. Award Process

e Students must be admitted to the University and in most cases have completed a general
scholarship application to be considered for review.

o CompetitiveAcademic, eemmunity—celege-transfer, and leadership and service awards are

determined by committee review at the university, college, and departmental levels which
may include a review of competitive test scores, transferable hours, high school or transfer
GPA, and excellent leadership and service activities as reflected in a student’s General
Scholarship Application.

e Athletic and talent scholarship awards are determined by a committee review which may
include a performance audition or portfolio showing.

e Alumni Non-Resident Tuition Scholarships are determined by ACT and/or GPA, residency and
legacy status._Students must be assessed non-resident tuition in order to receive a Non-
Resident Tuition Scholarship. The combination of the Alumni Non-Resident Tuition Scholarship
and other non-resident scholarships/waivers cannot exceed the non-resident fee portion of
tuition. Also, the non-resident tuition scholarships may not be combined with any other programs
that waive the non-resident charges, such as: Academic Common Market; Veteran, Service-
Member, Dependent or Spouse Non-Resident Tuition Waiver; etc.

3
4.3.Renewal Criteria and Appeals Process

e Scholarship renewal criteria vary from program to program depending on scholarship
objectives (Academic, Leadership and Service, Athletic and Talent, and Non-Resident Tuition).

e Where applicable, at the end of each fall semester, warning letters are issued to students who
are at risk of losing their scholarship(s).

e At the end of the spring semester, students who fail to meet renewal criteria are issued non-
renewal scholarship letters.

o All students have the right to appeal their scholarship status. Appeals of the loss of non-
resident tuition/academic scholarship may be made sn—the basisefbased on mitigating
circumstances.  Mitigating circumstances must be documented in the appeal for
reinstatement of the non-resident tuition/academic scholarship. Mitigating circumstances
are those that have—an—-effectupeninfluence the student’s academic performance, were
substantially beyond the control of the student, and whose occurrence would not likely be
repeated.

o lllness or injuries of the student or death in the student’s immediate family are examples of
situations which could be mitigating circumstances. Mitigating circumstances must be
documented in the appeal for reinstatement of the non-resident tuition/academic
scholarship.

27



o Non-resident students whose GPA falls below the required minimum 3.0 GPA will have the
opportunity to earn back the non-resident tuition grant/scholarship provided the student
meets the following requirements:

e Must successfully bring cumulative GPA back up to an overall 3.0

e  Must maintain continuous, full-time enrollment at MSU during the fall & spring
semesters

e Must have remaining semesters of non-resident tuition grantscholarship/schelarship
eligibility (each fall/spring semester that a student uses to earn back the non-resident
tuition grant/scholarship counts against the total semesters remaining)

Once a student regains an overall 3.0 GPA, it is the student’s responsibility to notify the
Scholarship Office for the reinstatement of their non-resident tuition scholarship.

e Students must obtain the appeals form from the Office of Admissions & Scholarships and
submit completed forms no later than June 1.

e The Scholarship Appeals Committee will review all scholarship appeals and render decisions
no later than June 30 of each year.

e Students will be notified by letter and email of appeal decisions prior to the start of each fall
semester.

4. Scholarships for Early Graduates

e For students who enter as freshmen
Academic Scholarships are awarded up to 4 years (8 semesters). Students who graduate from
MSU in less than 4 years (8 semesters) and have academic scholarship semesters remaining,
may be eligible to use the remaining academic scholarship for graduate school. Students
must maintain continuous full-time enrollment and maintain the required GPA as listed in the
scholarship offer. The student must be admitted to graduate school at MSU and must be
enrolled full time in the semester in which the award is received. The student must contact
the Scholarship Office to determine eligibility.

e For students who enter as transfers
Academic Scholarships are awarded up to 2 years (4 semesters). Students who graduate from
MSU in less than 2 years (4 semesters) and have academic scholarship semesters remaining,
may be eligible to use the remaining academic scholarship for graduate school. Students
must maintain continuous full-time enrollment and maintain the required GPA as listed in the
scholarship offer. The student must be admitted to graduate school at MSU and must be
enrolled full time in the semester in which the award is received. The student must contact
the Scholarship Office to determine eligibility.

REVIEW
This AOP will be reviewed every four years or earlier if circumstances require a review by the Office of
Admissions and Scholarships with recommendations for revision presented to the Provost and Executive
Vice President for Academic Affairs.

28



REVIEWED

Assistant Vice President for Enrollment

Executive Vice President & Dean, Graduate School

Date

Provost and Executive Vice President

Date

President, Robert Holland Faculty Senate

Date

Director, Institutional Research and Effectiveness

Date

General Counsel

APPROVED

Date

President

Date

Date

29



CHARTER & BYLAWS
FACULTY AFFAIRS
STUDENT AFFAIRS

UNIVERSITY RESOURCES

SPECIAL COMMITTEE REPORTS

PENDING BUSINESS

NEW BUSINESS

ADJOURN

30



rstarey | MISSISSIPPI STATE

UNIVERSITY.

AOP 12.12 CREDIT AND GRADES
PURPOSE

The purpose of this Academic Operating Policy and Procedure (AOP) is to provide a further understanding
of the policies and procedures dealing with credit and grades at Mississippi State University.

POLICY/PROCEDURE

Section A Credits and Grades
All credits earned at Mississippi State University are in semester hours. A semester hour is defined as
requiring at least the number of contact minutes as shown:

1. Lecture— 750 contact minutes

2. Llaboratory/Studio — 1500 contact minutes

3. Internship —3000 minutes
Year or quarter hours transferred from another institution are converted into semester hours for
purposes of uniformity in determining graduation requirements.
Transfer credits are readily accepted from institutions accredited by or in candidate status with a U.S.
Department of Education recognized agency, such as the Southern Association of Colleges and Schools
Commission on Colleges. It is the responsibility of colleges (and schools) to set the standards for
transferring “D” grades.
Credit from non-U.S. institutions may be accepted once reviewed by the appropriate academic
department, but is not articulated directly to MSU courses. The non-U.S. institution courses may be
approved to substitute for degree requirements.
Credit by examination and evaluated military service credit are accepted for academic credit as defined
in AOP 12.11 Degree Requirements - Undergraduate.
The class work of the student will be evaluated according to the following pattern of values:

Quality Points

Grade Per Credit Hour
A Excellent 4
B Good 3
C Satisfactory 2
D Poor 1
F Failure 0
XF Failure — Honor Code 0

GDP  Grade Determination Pending 0
I Incomplete 0

S Satisfactory --
U Unsatisfactory --
w Withdrawn without Penalty --
WI Permanent Incomplete --

The quality-point average shall be determined on the basis of semester hours scheduled and
rescheduled in which grades of “A,” “B,” “C,” “D,” and “F” or the “XF” disciplinary sanction are recorded.

31



However, a student may not earn credits or quality points for a course or its equivalent in which he or
she has already earned a grade of “A”.
AOP 13.14 Grade Appeals and Academic Review Board, contains the grade appeal procedure for
students.
A grade of “I” (Incomplete) may be submitted in lieu of a final grade when the student, because of
illness, death in his or her immediate family, or similar circumstances beyond his or her control, is unable
to complete the course requirements or to take final examinations. A grade of “I” will not be submitted
for reasons other than previously described. Except for circumstances noted above, an “I” grade will not
be given to extend the semester so that a student may complete a required assignment(s).
Undergraduate students who receive an “I” grade must complete all work within thirty (30) calendar
days from the date of the student’s next enrollment. A student who receives an “I” grade may make up
only that part of course work not completed because of the emergency. If a grade of “I” is not resolved
into a passing grade within the allotted time, the grade becomes an “F.” Once a grade of “I” has been
converted to an “F” because of the student’s failure to complete the necessary course work or a lapse of
the allowable time, no additional grade change will be allowed except under extreme circumstance(s) as
recommended by the deans and approved by the Provost and Executive Vice President.
If an undergraduate student has not enrolled in the university within a year of receiving a grade of “I,” the
“1” will be converted to a permanent grade of “WI” and the student will not have the opportunity to
change that grade.
Graduate students who receive a grade of “I” must complete all work no later than the last day of class
of the next semester (excluding summer) whether the student is enrolled or not. Failure of graduate
students to remove an “I” grade during the specified time will result in an automatic grade of "F”. Once a
grade of “I” has been converted to an “F” because of a student’s failure to complete the necessary
course work or a lapse of the allowable time, no additional grade change will be allowed except under
extreme circumstance(s) as recommended by the relevant deans and approved by the Provost and
Executive Vice President. “I” grades are not permitted for thesis and dissertation research credits.
Section B Minimum Course Competencies
A student may be required to master certain minimum competencies, referred to in some programs
such as the Doctor of Veterinary Medicine as “threshold events”, to allow a student to meet and past
course requirements. For a course that requires minimum competencies the following must be clearly
articulated:

“u IM

”III

i) The syllabus must clearly document the conditions for minimum competencies,

i) The instructor must explain the minimum competency requirements to the students on the
first day the class meets,

iii) Offer second chance at any failed competencies during the course. ’In the event that there is
only a one-time assessment of a competency given at the end of a course, laboratory
exercise or clinical rotation, the final grade may be withheld where the Registrar will assign
a no grade (NG) until the next available opportunity to offer a repeat of the failed
competencv.\[Rpl] The repeat opportunity must be provided, and a final grade entered prior
to the next semester in which the student enrolls.

iv) Provide catalog description to include appropriate language that minimum competencies
must be met,

32


http://www.msstate.edu/dept/audit/1314.html

V) Whenever possible, it is recommended to split apart the competency component into a
standalone course,

vi) Courses requiring a minimum competency to pass will be reviewed by the respective College
Dean.

REVIEW
This AOP will be reviewed every four years (or whenever circumstances require an earlier review) by the
University Registrar with recommendations for revision presented to the Provost and Executive Vice
President.

REVIEWED:

Executive Vice Provost for Academic Affairs

Associate Provost for Academic Affairs

Provost and Executive Vice President

President, Robert Holland Faculty Senate

Director, Institutional Research & Effectiveness

General Counsel

APPROVED:

President

33



rstarey | MISSISSIPPI STATE

UNIVERSITY.

AOP 13.06: SABBATICAL LEAVE FOR FACULTY MEMBERS OF STATE
INSTITUTIONS OF HIGHER LEARNING

PURPOSE
The purpose of this Academic Operating Policy and Procedure (AOP) is to outline the policy of
Mississippi State University with regard to sabbatical leave for faculty members, to ensure our
understanding and a standardized approach in the handling of sabbatical leave as required by the Board
of Trustees of State Institutions of Higher Learning.

POLICY/PROCEDURE
Any member of the faculty of the State Institutions of Higher Learning of the State of Mississippi shall be
eligible for Sabbatical leaves, for the purpose of professional improvement, for not more than two
semesters immediately following any twelve or more consecutive semesters of active service in the
Institutions of Higher Learning of this State where such faculty member is employed or for not more
than one semester immediately following any six or more consecutive semesters of such service.
Absence on sick leave shall not be deemed to interrupt the active service herein provided for.

Applications for sabbatical leave shall be made to the Board of Trustees of the State Institutions of
Higher Learning, with the approval of the Chancellor or the President of the Institutions of Higher
Learning. Approval or disapproval of the applications for sabbatical leave shall be made on the basis of
regulations prescribed by the Board of Trustees of State Institutions of Higher Learning.

Under rare circumstances, MSU, in consultation with the faculty member, may revoke, suspend, or delay
an approved sabbatical if deemed necessary, or if circumstances or needs in the faculty member’s home
department supersede those gained by the sabbatical leave. Revocation, delay or suspension of an
approved sabbatical requires Department Head, Dean and/or Director, Vice President (where
appropriate), and Provost approval, with notice to the President and Board of Trustees of State
Institutions of Higher Learning. The faculty may appeal the decision to their Dean, Vice President

(where appropriate) and Provost. ‘[RPZ]

Any person who is granted a sabbatical leave and who fails to comply with the provisions of such leave
as approved by the State Institutions of Higher Learning may have his or her leave terminated by the
Board of Trustees of State Institutions of Higher Learning. No person on sabbatical leave can be denied
any regular increment of increase in salary because of absence on sabbatical leave. Service on sabbatical
leave shall count as active service for the purpose of retirement and contributions to the retirement
fund shall be continued.

In order to provide for the above leaves the Board of Trustees of State Institutions of Higher Learning
shall have power to adopt rules and regulations regarding such leave. In no instance shall leave be
granted unless there is a contract providing for continued service, after expiration of the leave, in the
college where the faculty member is employed.

34



Every person on sabbatical leave shall enjoy all the rights and privileges pertaining to his or her
employment in the institution of higher learning in which such person is employed, which such person
would have enjoyed if in active service during such leave in the position from which such leave was
taken. Each person granted sabbatical leave may receive and be paid compensation up to the rate of
fifty percent of such person's annual salary. Compensation payable to persons on sabbatical leave shall
be paid at the same time and in the same manner salaries of the other members of the faculty are paid.
In instances where policies and practices are developed to create mechanisms for salary enhancement,
all eligible MSU faculty can participate in these opportunities before, during or after a sabbatical leave
period.

Regulations Established by the Board of Trustees for Faculty Members Seeking to Qualify
for Sabbatical Leave.

1. To qualify for one semester (4-1/2 months) of leave, a faculty member must have served full-
time on the faculty of one of the Mississippi State Institutions of Higher Learning for six (6)
consecutive semesters of regular session work before the effective date of leave; to qualify for
two semesters (9 months) of leave, he/she must have served full time on the regular faculty of
the institution twelve (12) consecutive semesters of regular session work in the institution
before the effective date of leave. However, a faculty member eligible for two semesters of
sabbatical leave may receive sabbatical leave for one semester at full pay in lieu of two
semesters of leave at half pay; and a faculty member eligible for one semester of sabbatical
leave at regular one-half pay may receive two semesters of leave at one-fourth pay.

2. Afaculty member who is granted leave will be under regular contract with the Board of
Trustees of State Institutions of Higher Learning for the full period of the leave.

3. Application for sabbatical leave will be made to the Board of Trustees of State Institutions of
Higher Learning through the Office of the Chancellor or President of the employing institution.
Standard application forms may be obtained from the faculty personnel officer.

4. A faculty member granted leave must enter formal agreement with the Board of Trustees to
remain on the full-time regular faculty of the employing institution for one semester for each
semester of leave granted, which semester shall follow immediately the termination of the
leave period. This formal agreement must require repayment of salary received while on leave
by anyone given leave (sabbatical or other) who does not return to work for the specified time
required. (This policy applies to any employee on leave with pay.)

5. Leave shall be granted "for the purpose of professional improvement" only. Sabbatical leaves
allowed under the Mississippi statute are not granted as rest periods, vacations, earned leave
with part pay, nor for any other purpose except as explicitly stated in law. Faculty members
may have the right, while on sabbatical leave, to receive any grant or stipend designed
primarily to further professional growth of students, scholars, and professional people,
whether under the sponsorship of an institution of higher education or of an organization
known generally to engage in educational promotions meritorious to higher education. Faculty
members on such leave may not accept full-time employment or enter into any written or
implied obligation of employment which would violate the contracts for full service he/she will
have with his/her institution while on leave.

35



6. A faculty member on sabbatical leave remains a full-time employee of the Board of Trustees of

State Institutions of Higher Learning with all benefits and responsibilities continued by law.

These rights and benefits include those of retirement, insurance, housing, longevity, and other

benefits.

7. Faculty on sabbatical leave will have access to information about, and be allowed the
opportunity to participate in the same meetings, discussions, academic decisions,
administrative decisions, and elections within their home department or college that they
would traditionally be involved in prior to, and after an approved sabbatical leave.

REVIEW

This AOP will be reviewed every four years (or when circumstances require an earlier review) by the

Executive Vice Provost with recommendations for revision presented to the Provost and Executive Vice

President.

REVIEWED:

Executive Vice Provost and
Dean of the Graduate School

Date

Provost and Executive Vice President

Date

President, Robert Holland Faculty Senate

Date

Director, Institutional Research & Effectiveness

Date

General Counsel

APPROVED:

Date

President

Date

36



